
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Please ask for: Ross Jago, Democratic Support Officer  
T: 01752 304469 E: ross.jago@plymouth.gov.uk 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL – SAFEGUARDING VULNERABLE 
ADULTS TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 
Date:    Tuesday 10 January 2012 
Time:   10.00 am 
Venue: Council House 
 
Members: 
Councillor McDonald, Chair 
Councillors Mrs Bragg, Browne, Penberthy, Dr. Salter and Tuffin. 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
Members and officers are requested to sign the attendance list at the meeting. 
 
Please note that unless the chair of the meeting agrees, mobile phones should be switched off 
and speech, video and photographic equipment should not be used in meetings. 
 
 
Barry Keel 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Barry Keel 
Chief Executive 
 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
 
Date: 23-12-2011 

Public Document Pack



 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for non-attendance by panel members. 
  
2. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS    
  
 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 
  
3. WITNESSES    
  
 The panel will hear evidence from witnesses, a schedule of witnesses will follow the 

publication of this agenda. 
  
4. ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION FOR 

INFORMATION   
(Pages 1 - 52) 

  
 Additional information has been attached to this agenda to assist the formation of 

recommendations at the final meeting of the Task and Finish Group. 
  
5. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended 
by the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, the Panel is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.  
 
NIL. 
  
 



Our safeguarding 
protocol

The Care Quality Commission’s commitment to 
safeguarding

Agenda Item 4Page 1



2

Contents

1. Introduction 

2. Safeguarding adults – policy background 

3. Safeguarding children – policy background 

4. Core functions 
  Registration  
  Compliance   
  Assessments of quality 

5. The role of CQC in local safeguarding procedures 
  Information sharing 
  Safeguarding strategy meetings 
  Local safeguarding boards 
  Serious case reviews 

6.   The role of other agencies 

7.       Management of safeguarding information received by CQC 

8. Mental capacity 

9. Collection of safeguarding data 

10. Useful links 

Page 2



3

1. Introduction 

1.1 Within this document the term safeguarding, whether it is used in relation 
to health or social care, refers to an organisation’s responsibility to protect 
people whose circumstances make them particularly vulnerable to abuse, 
neglect or harm. CQC recognises that a person’s need to be safe is 
determined by their individual circumstances, rather than the care setting 
they are in and that this may change at different stages of anyone’s life. 
Effective safeguarding depends on a multi-agency partnership within 
which CQC may contribute. This different relationship is reflected in the 
various levels of engagement with multi-agency procedures.  

1.2 CQC has developed this protocol for staff to describe its role in 
safeguarding both children and adults. It covers all the relevant health and 
social care sectors for which CQC has regulatory responsibility and 
provides the principles for how CQC will work to help ensure people are 
protected. It may also provide helpful guidance for stakeholders on the 
role of CQC in local safeguarding procedures. Detailed guidance for staff 
and stakeholders will be developed to support this protocol. 

1.3 This protocol replaces previous protocols issued by the Commission for 
Social Care Inspection, the Healthcare Commission and the Mental Health 
Act Commission. It identifies a range of subsidiary guidance for staff. 

Our vision 

1.4 Safeguarding is a key priority for CQC, which reflects both our focus on 
human rights and the requirement within the Health and Social Care Act 
2008 to have regard to the need to protect and promote the rights of 
people who use health and social care services. Regulated services, the 
providers of health and adult social care services, local councils and 
primary care trust commissioners have a key role in safeguarding. We will 
monitor how these roles are fulfilled through our registration, compliance 
and assessments of quality. 

1.5 While there are significant differences in the statutory basis and policy 
context between safeguarding children and safeguarding adults, which will 
be reflected in our processes, for both there is an overarching objective of 
enabling people to live a life free from abuse. This can’t be achieved by 
any one agency alone; safeguarding is ultimately the responsibility of 
whole communities and depends on the everyday vigilance of everyone 
who plays a part in the lives of children or adults in vulnerable situations to 
ensure that people are kept safe from harm. 

Page 3



4

2. Safeguarding adults – policy background 

2.1 Unlike safeguarding children, where there are distinct responsibilities in 
statute, arrangements for safeguarding adults fall under the Department of 
Health policy framework of ‘No Secrets’ guidance (2000), which gives  
councils the responsibility for establishing and coordinating local multi-
agency procedures for responding to allegations of abuse. It also 
introduced the principle that social services departments and their 
partners should set up adult protection committees (now sometimes 
referred to as safeguarding adults partnership boards).  

2.2 In 2005, the Association of Directors of Social Services published a set of 
standards in Safeguarding Adults – A National Framework of Standards 
for good practice and outcomes in adult protection work. These are a non-
mandatory set of good practice standards and some of the terminology 
used has been adopted within this protocol.

2.3 ‘Adult protection’ focuses on responding to abuse after it happens. 
‘Safeguarding adults’ involves the systems, processes and practices to 
enable people to live a life that is free from abuse and neglect through: 

  Awareness of issues about the abuse of adults – including, for 
example, easily accessible information for the public about what is 
abuse and where/how to get help. 

  Ensuring priority is given to keeping people safe from abuse – 
including, for example, leadership within organisations and a clear 
commitment to stamp out abuse wherever it happens. 

  Helping to prevent people from experiencing abuse in the first place – 
including actions that can be taken to reduce the potential for abuse. 

  Recognising and acting appropriately when there are allegations of 
abuse – including prompt referrals to councils under the multi-agency 
procedures. 

  Supporting the person who has experienced abuse – including 
supporting them through the process and involving them where and as 
appropriate in the development of a protection plan.

2.4 In October 2008, the Department of Health launched a public consultation 
on its review of No Secrets. In January 2010, the Government announced 
its response to the consultation which included: 

  Its vision of safeguarding adults as encompassing protection, justice 
and empowerment. 

Page 4



5

  National leadership through an Inter-Departmental Ministerial Group 
(IDMG) on Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults. 

  New legislation to put local safeguarding adult’s boards on a statutory 
footing.

  A programme of work including the development of new multi-agency 
guidance.

2.5 The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (SVGA) has come into 
force, introducing a new Vetting and Barring Scheme that replaces the 
Protection of Vulnerable Adults list and the Protection of Children Act list. 
The Act defines who is required to register with the Scheme in relation to 
whether they are undertaking ‘regulated activities’ as defined in the SVGA, 
working in specified places or hold certain positions. For the first time an 
adults barred list will apply to the NHS. Membership of the scheme is to be 
phased in over a five-year period. Regulated activity providers, keepers of 
registers, local authorities and supervisory bodies such as CQC are 
amongst a number of bodies that all have a statutory duty to refer people. 
Guidance on when CQC should refer is currently being developed. Further 
information can be found at http://www.isa-gov.org.uk/

2.6 Personalization is a key aspect of the Government’s vision for public 
services in order to enable people to feel empowered and supported in 
meeting their aspirations.  It is also relates to CQC’s strategic objective of 
ensuring that care is centred on people’s needs and protects their rights. 

  The Putting People First concordat describes a range of features that will 
be central to this system-wide transformation including safeguarding. They 
include:
  joint (local council & PCT) strategic needs assessment to inform the 

local community strategy and an integrated approach to 
commissioning and market development; 

  prevention, early intervention and enablement become the norm; 
  universal information, advice & advocacy, irrespective of eligibility for 

public funds; 
  common assessment – with greater emphasis on self-assessment; 
  person-centred planning and self-directed support become 

mainstreamed, with personal budgets for everyone eligible for publicly-
funded care and support and more people opting to arrange their own 
support with direct payments. 

  Adult Social Care to champion the needs and rights of disabled people 
and older adults, safeguarding and promoting dignity, supporting a 
collective voice through user-led organisations, enhancing social 
capital and developing the local workforce.

Page 5



6

Whilst care provided to people employing and directing their own personal 
assistants is outside of CQC’ s regulatory remit, we will nevertheless have 
an interest in how councils are building safeguarding into policy and 
practice in support of the personalization agenda  There are a various 
ways of contributing to this including, for example, support in recruitment 
and vetting, access to advocacy, community safety services, risk 
assessment tools, review mechanisms  etc 

3. Safeguarding children – policy background 

3.1 Regulatory responsibility for inspection of safeguarding arrangements for 
children in England lies with Ofsted. Local authorities are charged under 
the Children Act 1989 and 2004 with lead responsibility for keeping 
children safe, securing the wellbeing of the residents in their local area 
and ensuring effective partnership working across local partners, including 
health. This responsibility and compliance by councils with the Children 
Act is monitored by the Government Offices. Within this framework, 
however, CQC has a responsibility to regulate NHS and independent 
sector providers and their compliance with the legal requirements placed 
upon them primarily by the Children Acts and the Health and Social Care 
Act 2008. A three-year programme of joint inspections with Ofsted was 
launched in June 2009, which will visit each local authority once and 
report on arrangements for safeguarding and the care of looked after 
children.

3.2 The statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children was 
revised in March 2010 and is helpfully explicit about CQC’s role and that 
of individual organisations. It also recognises that it is most important for 
local systems to work effectively with the regulator, so we will usually 
maintain a watching brief, intervening only if local systems trigger serious 
concerns, consistently fail to respond to early concerns or need specific 
support or intervention. 

3.3 CQC conducted a review of arrangements for safeguarding children in the 
NHS in early 2009, alongside the Laming review, resulting in a significant 
government focus and performance management regime to ensure that all 
NHS organisations are working together and sharing information in a 
timely and appropriate way.

Page 6



7

3.4 Under the revised Working Together to Safeguarding Children, PCTs are 
required to notify CQC on the initiation of a serious case review, which are 
sent to a central, dedicated mailbox and are acknowledged on receipt. 
The notifications are passed to assessors as information for use as part of 
the regulatory compliance activity. Since 1 January 2010, Ofsted has 
committed to sharing full serious case review reports with CQC, to 
enable us to assess the implementation of action plans, and there is 
provision for us to become involved as appropriate in providing expert 
advice for serious case review evaluations. This detail is still to be 
confirmed.

4. Core functions 

Registration

4.1 Registration is the foundation of CQC’s new regulatory framework and 
provides a common platform across health and social care. All providers 
must meet essential standards of safety and quality set by registration and 
by the ongoing monitoring of providers’ compliance. This common 
platform will help to develop a more integrated approach at service level 
as it will help to ensure that people will have common expectations and 
experiences of safeguarding, whether they are using the services of an 
acute hospital or a care agency supporting them in their own home.

Compliance

4.2 CQC has produced guidance that describes what services need to do to 
safeguard children and adults. We believe that a person’s right to live a life 
free from abuse and neglect, and for abuse to be prevented, is as 
important as responding to it after it has happened. As previously 
described, the legislation and government guidance about child and adult 
abuse is different. CQC’s essential standards of safety and quality state 
that services must take account of both government and local guidance. 

To support staff and providers in making decisions about provider’s 
registration status and ongoing compliance, CQC has published the 
following:

 Guidance about compliance

 Guidance about compliance: Judgment framework

Page 7



8

4.3 In regards to safeguarding, CQC will focus on Outcome 7, safeguarding 
and safety (Regulation 11). However, it is important to recognise that 
effective safeguarding requires compliance with a whole range of 
registration requirements – not just the regulation that explicitly covers 
safeguarding. For example, effective safeguarding requires robust 
recruitment and vetting processes for staff, enough well trained and 
competent staff, effective and appropriate treatment and systems that 
allow people who use services and their representatives to feedback 
concerns. The examples detailed in the table below are illustrative rather 
than exhaustive. 

Other outcomes relevant to safeguarding 

Section Outcome Regulation* Title 

Safeguarding and 
safety

7 11 Safeguarding people who use 
services from abuse 

Safeguarding and 
safety

9 13 Management of medicines 

Safeguarding and 
safety

10 15 Safety and suitability of 
premises

Safeguarding and 
safety

11 16 Safety, availability and suitability 
of equipment 

Suitability of 
staffing

12 21 Requirements relating to 
workers

Suitability of 
staffing

13 22 Staffing 

Suitability of 
staffing

14 23 Supporting workers 

Quality and 
management

17 19 Complaints 

* Regulations of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) 
Regulations 2009. 

4.4 CQC will use its range of enforcement powers, where registration 
requirements are not being met. We will particularly focus on using these 
powers in relation to services that are delivering poor quality outcomes.

Page 8



9

4.5 Where regulatory action is being considered or undertaken, CQC will 
share all relevant information with the local safeguarding partnership on 
an ongoing basis. 

4.6 The regulatory framework includes a suite of notification requirements 
both from the NHS and the independent sector. This data should inform 
our assessment systems about overall trends and risks as well as 
individual concerns. Within the NHS, for example, the notification system 
will be linked through the National Patient Safety Agency to serious 
untoward incident reporting and the management of serious case reviews.

4.7 CQC’s health and social care enforcement policy can be found at: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/_db/_documents/CQC_Enforcement_Policy_Final2.pdf

While working in partnership with other agencies, CQC will not suspend its 
own statutory enforcement responsibilities pending the outcome of 
another (for example, criminal) process, where to do so would run counter 
to the safety and well-being of the people who use the service. This is in 
accordance with lessons highlighted within the ‘Longcare’ inquiry (Burgner 
et al 1998) and our statutory duties. In such circumstances, we will aim 
wherever possible to coordinate actions in order to preserve evidence and 
avoid impeding each other’s investigations or enforcement action.

4.8 Assessments of quality 

An assessment of quality describes CQC’s activity in relation to its powers 
to carry out periodic reviews and special reviews and to publish 
information. Safeguarding will be integral to all assessments of quality. 

5. The role of CQC in local safeguarding procedures 

5.1 CQC’s function in response to safeguarding concerns is primarily, as a 
regulator, to ensure that commissioners and providers of care have 
adequate systems in place to ensure the safety of children, young people 
and adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable to abuse.

.

Where a safeguarding alert suggests a breach of regulations or the 
registered person not being fit for the role, we will consider what regulatory 

Page 9



10

action is needed by the Commission and undertake that work in 
partnership with other agencies.

Where safeguarding concerns relate to a regulated service our 
participation, in our capacity as a regulator, in local strategy and action 
planning is essential. There are four main areas of partnership working in 
which CQC maybe involved: 

  Information sharing. 
  Safeguarding adult strategy meetings. 
  Local safeguarding boards. 
  Serious case reviews. 

5.2 Information sharing 

 CQC recognises that successful regulation is dependant upon good and 
timely information sharing with partner agencies and, wherever possible, 
the sharing of information with any particular agency should be in 
accordance with a protocol. Information sharing by CQC should always be 
fair and proportionate and within legal requirements to protect those to 
whom the shared information relates. It is important to share information 
so that we can: 

  Promote improvements in health and social care.  
  Work in partnership with other regulators and agencies. 
  Play our role in the systems that aim to protect people who are at risk.  

 CQC is committed to principles of openness and accountability and will, 
wherever appropriate, share information in line with the Freedom of 
Information Act. Further detailed guidance on the CQC protocol governing 
sharing of information can be found at: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/_db/_documents/Information_sharing_v_2_78-
09_200910133519.doc

Agencies that have been involved in the investigation/safeguarding 
assessment will share information in accordance with any information 
sharing protocols in place. The outcome of the safeguarding assessment 
(including investigation reports where appropriate) must be shared with 
CQC where it relates to a regulated service, whether or not CQC has been 
directly involved in the assessment or investigation process. 

Where CQC has undertaken a review in response to the safeguarding 
concerns, this will be shared in the multi-agency forum and details of 
enforcement action will be notified to the council as required within the 
Health and Social Care Act 2008 and regulations. 

Page 10



11

5.3 Safeguarding strategy meetings 

When a council accepts a referral regarding safeguarding adults, it will 
communicate with relevant agencies to assess the risk and take any 
necessary action. This is often referred to as a “strategy meeting”.

While CQC should always be made aware of any concern about 
safeguarding adults within a regulated service, it is not routinely necessary 
for CQC to attend all safeguarding strategy meetings. CQC’s involvement 
with the strategy meeting should take place when: 

1. A person or people registered with CQC to provide services are 
directly implicated. 

2. Urgent or complex regulatory action is indicated. 

3. Any form of enforcement action has started, which relates to risks to 
people using the service or their quality of care, is under consideration 
in relation to the service or location involved.

CQC will provide relevant information to the chairs of all strategy meetings 
convened in relation to regulated services as requested. For example, 
information from CQC about the quality of service and regulatory track 
record of the provider may be useful to the chair of the meeting in 
determining the provider’s level of involvement in the process. The general 
assumption is that where registered providers and managers are judged to 
be fit and not implicated in the alleged abuse then they will be pro-actively 
involved as partners in tackling the abuse.  

Where the concern relates to a service regulated by CQC, the chair of the 
strategy meeting should be asked to provide copies of the minutes and 
any action plans regardless of whether CQC has attended the meeting or 
not. Records relating to the strategy meetings may be subject to Freedom 
of Information Act requests. 

In the majority of cases it will be the Compliance Inspector who attends 
safeguarding strategy meetings; however where the safeguarding issues 
apply to a large organisation, or there are multiple safeguarding concerns, 
the Compliance Manager may wish to attend. 

The above paragraphs refer in general to adult strategy meetings.  CQC 
would not usually be involved in safeguarding strategy meetings for 
children – in these cases the lead regulator would be Ofsted. 

Page 11



12

5.4 Local safeguarding boards 

Each local authority will have established two local safeguarding boards, 
one for children and young people and one for adults whose 
circumstances make them vulnerable to abuse.

A local safeguarding board is an inter-agency forum for agreeing how 
different services and professional groups should cooperate to safeguard 
residents in their local area, and for making sure that arrangements work 
effectively for bringing about good outcomes for children and adults whose 
circumstances make them vulnerable to abuse.
.
CQC will not routinely attend local safeguarding boards. However, CQC 
recognises that relationships between CQC and local safeguarding boards 
are useful to ensure that the local safeguarding arrangements are working 
effectively and raise area-wide issues where necessary. In order to 
achieve this, regions will attend safeguarding boards, at least once per 
year, by invitation or agreement. This will allow a particular focus of this 
meeting on the contribution of CQC including, for example to: 

  Share information. 
  Assess the effectiveness of safeguarding partnerships. 
  Discuss a local or regional safeguarding matter. 

CQC has no decision-making authority on local safeguarding boards. 

Additionally, meeting with the chairs of the local safeguarding boards may 
be helpful in clarifying the role of the regulator, sharing relevant 
information and promoting joint working with relevant agencies. It may 
also be helpful where there are area-wide concerns regarding 
safeguarding arrangements. 

In the majority of cases, it will be the Compliance Manager who maintains 
the relationship with the local safeguarding board and its chair

5.5 Serious case reviews 

CQC recognises that we may have a role to play in Serious Case Reviews 
(SCR) and the learning that arises from them, particularly where they 
relate to a service regulated by CQC.  CQC is not however routinely 
involved in all SCR’s and we hold no decision-making authority within this 
process.

Page 12



13

When a SCR is initiated, each relevant service will undertake a separate 
management review of their involvement with the case. The aim of a 
management review is to openly and critically examine an organisation’s 
practice to see if there are any changes required or opportunities for 
learning.

When requests for management review reports are received by CQC the 
regional director determines the local response to the request. If 
management review reports are completed, the regional director agrees 
the report before it is shared with the local safeguarding partnership.

There is also the potential to learn from Domestic Homicide Reviews 
where the victim is considered a “vulnerable adult” in terms of the No 
Secrets guidance. 

Children
Under the revised Working Together to Safeguarding Children
commissioning PCTs are required to notify CQC on the initiation of a 
serious case review. The notifications are sent to a central, dedicated 
mailbox (safeguardingchildren@cqc.org.uk), acknowledged on receipt 
and then passed to assessors for information as part of the regulatory 
compliance activity.

Ofsted are committed to providing full copies of paperwork associated with 
SCRs, once their evaluation is completed. CQC will use this information 
within the reviews to inform its regulatory processes and monitor 
completion of actions by regulated organisations where relevant. 

Adults
There is no legal framework for adult SCRs; however local safeguarding 
partnerships will notify CQC of the instigation of a SCR and of their 
outcomes and associated action plans on completion. 

Regional safeguarding leads are responsible for collating regional 
information on all SCRs notified to CQC and the outcomes in a 
standardised format.  

6.  The role of other agencies 

Local multi- agency procedures will usually describe the roles of key 
partner agencies and organizations. This will typically include; 

Page 13



14

Police - investigation into allegations which relate to possible criminal 
activity and where a criminal prosecution may be indicated – Where this is 
the prime investigation strategy other agencies must ensure that their 
input or action does not adversely impact on the integrity of the 
investigation.

Social services – in addition to the wider role in co-ordinating the multi-
agency procedures, within their role as commissioners of care the local 
council may also look at specific issues arising from the safeguarding alert 
in relation to compliance with service agreements or individual care 
contracts or undertake a review or reassessment of a person’s care 
needs.

The Director of Adult Social Services is expected to ensure “a clear 
organisational focus on safeguarding adults in vulnerable situations” (Best 
Practice Guidance on the Role of the Director of Adult Social Services)  
and has a broader role which includes driving partnership working, 
delivering an integrated whole systems approach to supporting 
communities; and promoting social inclusion and wellbeing. These 
elements can be an important contributor to the prevention agenda within 
safeguarding.

The Provider / Manager of the health or social care service – The 
relevant agencies will decide at the beginning of the strategy process 
whether it would be appropriate for the registered provider or manager to 
conduct an investigation and then report back to the multi-agency forum 
which maintains an overview.

7.   Management of safeguarding information received by CQC 

7.1 As a regulator, CQC will receive information in relation to potential or 
alleged safeguarding incidents. The majority of this information will be 
received by Shared Services. Safeguarding information can be identified 
through either receipt of formal notifications from providers or through 
other written or verbal information, complaints, concerns or allegations. 
The information we receive is triaged and identified as either a 
safeguarding alert or a safeguarding concern.

7.2 A CQC safeguarding alert is where shared services are the first agency 
receiving the safeguarding information and/or there is a need for CQC to 
take immediate action. In response, CQC will take immediate action by 
making verbal contact with an inspector/assessor to advise them of its 
receipt. The safeguarding alert is responded to by an inspector or 

Page 14



15

assessor on the same working day. The local council will be informed 
using the contact route which has been agreed in accordance with the 
local safeguarding procedures. Such alerts are relatively rare because in 
practice most service providers are aware of expectations to make a 
referral directly to the council. 

7.3 A CQC safeguarding concern is other safeguarding information, where 
CQC is not the first agency receiving this information and there is no need 
for us to take immediate regulatory action. The information may already 
have been notified to the local authority or police. CQC will risk assess the 
information (whether directly coming to us or via the local council) to 
determine whether urgent regulatory action is needed. Safeguarding 
concerns are responded to within two working days of receipt of the 
information through the normal, existing processes.

7.4 In adult services, councils will in turn notify CQC of safeguarding 
information received by them in relation to services regulated by CQC.
Councils will also notify CQC if information that we have passed on to 
them is not accepted as a safeguarding referral and the reason for this. 

7.5 In adult services, councils will also notify CQC of the outcome of 
safeguarding investigations that relate to regulated organisations. These 
outcomes should be captured within the quality risk profile so that they are 
taken into account when making assessments of services. 

7.6 If there is an indication of any criminal activity, CQC will also refer the 
information to the local police force in parallel with passing it to the local 
council.

8. Mental capacity 

8.1 Legislation that contributes to safeguarding includes the Mental Capacity 
Act 2005, which provides a framework for decision making in relation to 
mental capacity and two legal offences of mistreatment and willful neglect 
in respect of people who are thought to ‘lack mental capacity’. The five key 
principles within the Mental Capacity Act including the checklist 
concerning best interests decision making need to be embedded in 
everyday practice when safeguarding decisions are being considered.  
Some complex decisions may also need to be referred to the Court of 
Protection.

8.2. CQC has a statutory responsibility to protect the interests of people whose 
rights have been restricted under the Mental Health Act.

8.3 New deprivation of liberty safeguards under the Mental Capacity Act were 
implemented in April 2009, which apply to care homes and hospitals. 

Page 15



16

Councils and PCTs have a specific role to play and CQC has a monitoring 
role in relation to the operation of these safeguards. Independent Mental 
Capacity Advocates (IMCAs) were also established and may be used in 
cases concerning safeguarding adults. 

8.4 CQC guidance on mental capacity, including the deprivation of Liberty 
safeguards can be found at;

           (link to follow) 

9. Collection of safeguarding data

9.1 CQC data collection will be incorporated in the supporting methodology 
that underpins this protocol and will include the following elements:  

 Information on compliance with CQC’s organisational requirements. 

 Information that may contribute to national reporting (to be 
determined).

 Information that can assist with the monitoring of compliance and   
assessment of quality. 

 Information about the provenance of abuse in regulated services. 

Useful links 

The following reports and links are helpful in providing additional information and 
context.

Adults

Department of Health, No Secrets – Guidance on developing and implementing 
multi-agency policies and procedures to protect vulnerable adults from abuse,
20 March 2000 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicy
AndGuidance/DH_4008486

Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI), Safeguarding Adults: A study of 
the effectiveness of arrangements for safeguarding adults, November 2008 

Page 16



17

http://www.cqc.org.uk/_db/_documents/safeguard[1].pdf

CSCI, Raising Voices: Views on safeguarding adults, April 2008
http://www.cqc.org.uk/_db/_documents/raising_voices.pdf 

CSCI, Rights, risks and restraints: An exploration into the use of restraint in the 
care of older people, November 2007. 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/_db/_documents/restraint[1].pdf

UK Study of Abuse and Neglect of Older People 2007 
The study came out of an Action on Elder Abuse submission to the Health Select 
Committee and was funded by Comic Relief and the Department of Health 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicy
AndGuidance/DH_076197

‘Blowing the whistle on abuse of adults with learning disabilities’ – Article in the 
Journal of Adult Protection
http://www.careknowledge.com/uploadedFiles/CareKnowledge_CMS/Public/Jour
nals/Journal_of_Adult_Protection/JAP_2007/JAP92MayCalcraft.pdf

Partnership means protection? Perceptions of the effectiveness of multi-agency 
working and the regulatory framework within adult protection in England and 
Wales
http://www.careknowledge.com/secure/contenttypes/doc.aspx?id=54420 

Partnership and Regulation in Adult Protection, 2007 
This study was funded by the Department of Health (Modernising Adult Social 
Care Programme) between 2004-2007. 
http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/prap 

Improvement and Development Agency, Details of safeguarding vulnerable 
adults improvement programme for councils 
http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/core/page.do?pageId=14866608 

Clinical governance and adult safeguarding: an integrated process : 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicy
AndGuidance/DH_112361

Children

Children’s Act 2004 
http://www.uk-legislation.hmso.gov.uk/acts/acts2004/ukpga_20040031_en_1 

Children’s Act 1989
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1989/ukpga_19890041_en_1 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 

Page 17



18

http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/safeguardingandsocialcare/safeguardin
gchildren/workingtogether/workingtogethertosafeguardchildren/ 

Laming Report One Year On 
http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/safeguardingandsocialcare/safeguardin
gchildren/workingtogether/workingtogethertosafeguardchildren/ 

Effectiveness of New Local Children Safeguarding Board in England 
http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&Page
Mode=publications&ProductId=DCSF-RB126& 

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our enforcement 
policy 
 
 
October 2010 

Page 19



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 2

 
 
About the Care Quality Commission 
 
The Care Quality Commission is the independent regulator of health care and adult 
social care services in England. We also protect the interests of people whose rights are 
restricted under the Mental Health Act. 
 
Whether services are provided by the NHS, local authorities or by private or voluntary 
organisations, we make sure that people get better care by: 
 
 Driving improvement across health and adult social care. 
 Putting people first and championing their rights. 
 Acting swiftly to remedy bad practice. 
 Gathering and using knowledge and expertise, and working with others. 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
 
1. Introduction        3 
 
2. Principles of enforcement      7 
 
3. Investigations        10 
 
4. Our enforcement powers and how we will use them   11 
 
5. Publication and notification of enforcement action   21 
 
6. Working with other organisations     22 
 
 
Appendix A: Criteria for formal investigation     23 
 
Appendix B: Equality impact assessment     25 
 
Appendix C: Offences and fines      31 
 
Appendix D: Glossary of significant enforcement terms   32 
 

Page 20



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 3

1. Introduction 
 
 

This policy sets out the principles we will follow when using the enforcement 
powers in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 to improve health and social care 
services and protect the health, safety and welfare of people who use them. 
 
We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of this policy and revise it when 
necessary. 

 
Context 
 
1. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the independent regulator of health and 

adult social care services in England. We register services if they meet essential 
standards of quality and safety required by the law and check that they continue 
to do so. 

 
2. Where providers fail to meet the requirements of the law we have powers to 

intervene and if necessary take action against them. This includes services that are 
operating without being registered. 

 
3. This enforcement policy describes how we will use our enforcement powers and 

the principles behind our approach. It was published on 1 October 2010 and 
replaces the policy we published on 1 April 2009. 

 
4. This policy does not apply to the way we use our powers under the Ionising 

Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulations 2000. 
 
Background 
 
5. The Health and Social Care Act 2008 gives us a variety of powers to intervene and 

take action where the requirements of the Act are not being met. 
 
6. These legal requirements and powers are set out in: 
 

 The Health and Social Care Act 2008 
(‘the Act’) 

 The Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2010 
(‘the regulated activities regulations’) 

 The Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009 
(‘the registration regulations’) 
 

7. Providers and managers of regulated activities (‘registered persons’) have to 
comply with three different kinds of requirements under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2008: 

 
 They must apply for registration and show that they can comply with the 

requirements of the law. 
 
After registration, they must comply with: 

Page 21



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 4

 Any conditions of registration. 
 
 The relevant sections and regulations of the Act. 

 
8. Our Guidance about compliance: Essential standards of quality and safety: 
 

 Sets out the outcomes people should be able to expect when they receive 
care. It is designed to help registered persons comply with the regulated 
activities and registration regulations. These are the regulations that most 
directly relate to the health, safety and well being of people who use services. 

 Where the Essential standards are not being met we can take compliance 
action, or enforcement action if this is due to failure to meet the requirements 
of the law. 

 
9. The Act and regulations: 
 

 Provide direction to registered persons about what they must do. 
 Provide CQC with powers to monitor and inspect regulated activities and to 

gather information about whether relevant requirements are being met. 
 Provide CQC with powers to prosecute unregistered providers of regulated 

activities. 
 Provide CQC with civil powers to promote compliance by limiting what a 

registered person is allowed to do, or by temporarily or permanently stopping 
them from carrying on regulated activities. 

 Provide CQC with powers to prosecute, fine, warn and caution registered 
persons who break the law. 

 
10. Our judgement framework: 
 

 Sets out the processes we use to evaluate evidence about a service and assess 
the risk of failure to comply with the essential standards of quality and safety. 

 Together with our ‘setting the bar’ guidance and this policy, sets out how we 
will make decisions about responding to registered persons who are not 
meeting the essential standards and the requirements of the law (see  
figure 1). 

 
11. We will take into account the likely impact of enforcement action on people who 

use services, their carers and families and the wider community when planning 
what kind of action to take. 

 

Page 22



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 5

Figure 1:  Setting the bar 
 

 
Enforcement options 
 
12. If we think a service is not meeting the Essential standards and the requirements 

of the law, or if it is operating outside of the law because it is unregistered, we will 
decide what kind of regulatory action to take. What we do will depend upon the 
circumstances we are dealing with. 

 
13. Where problems can be resolved quickly and easily, and there is no immediate risk 

of unnecessary harm to people, we will discuss voluntary action with the provider 
to achieve improvements. 

 
14. Where we have concerns that registered providers are not currently meeting the 

requirements of the law, or are not likely to meet the requirements of the law 
continuously over time, we can set improvement actions or compliance actions, 
and/or take enforcement action as appropriate. 

 
15. Where enforcement is needed we can take ‘civil enforcement’ or ‘criminal law’ 

action. 
 
16. Civil enforcement action is taken when we need to protect people who use 

services from unnecessary harm through improving care or preventing the 
provision of unsafe care.  

Page 23



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 6

17. Criminal law action is taken when we want to hold a registered person to account 
for causing unnecessary harm and/or failing to meet important requirements of 
the law. 

 
18. Civil enforcement and criminal law can be used together if people who use services 

need protection from unnecessary harm and it is also appropriate that a registered 
person is held to account. 

 
19. We can use the criminal law to prosecute unregistered providers of regulated 

activities. 
 
Table 1:  Enforcement options 

Formal regulatory action 

Improvement actions 

Compliance actions 

Civil enforcement Criminal law 

Warning notice 

Variation / removal / imposition of 
condition(s) of registration 

Warning notice 

Urgent variation / removal / imposition of 
condition(s) of registration 

Suspension of registration 

Fixed penalty notice 

Extend a period of suspension of 
registration 

Urgent suspension of registration / 
extension of suspension 

Simple caution 

Cancellation of registration 

Urgent cancellation of registration 

 

Prosecution 

 
20. We will at all times consider the likely outcomes of our enforcement work and 

where relevant and possible discuss our action with people who use services and 
their supporters, and keep them informed of developments. 

 

Page 24



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 7

2. Principles of enforcement 
 
 
21. Our overarching concern and priority is to protect the safety of people who use 

the services we regulate, and improve the quality of care they receive. 
 
22. We will be proportionate in how we work with providers and others to achieve 

compliance with the Act and regulations. 
 

 We will carefully assess any risks to people using, working in and visiting 
services, and where necessary take enforcement action that is in proportion to 
those risks. 

 
 We will encourage improvement without the need to take enforcement action 

wherever possible. This includes increasing monitoring activity and/or site 
visits where necessary, or ensuring that unregistered providers apply for 
registration. Where a service fails to meet the Essential standards in a way that 
breaks the law we may take enforcement action. 

 
 Where legal requirements are not being met we will choose the most 

proportionate way of achieving sustained compliance with the essential 
standards. 

 
 In making decisions about enforcement options we will take into account a 

provider’s track record in: 
 Achieving and maintaining a service that meets people’s needs and all 

relevant legal requirements. 
 Responding to any requirements made in reviews of compliance reports, 

improvement and compliance actions we have set, and formal enforcement 
action. 

 
 Our decisions about enforcement options will take into account how a 

provider has responded to actions that we and other regulators have made in 
the past, and how well their subsequent compliance was maintained over time. 

 
23. We will be accountable for our decisions. 
 

 This policy clearly describes our approach to regulation, and it can be used by 
people when testing our actions and to hold us to account. 

 
 We positively welcome comments and feedback about our enforcement work 

and how we have used our powers. We have a complaints procedure that 
people can use to express concerns about our work and decisions. 

 
 The law provides means by which providers can make representations and 

appeals against our decisions. We will inform stakeholders about how they can 
use these, and we will engage with these processes positively and openly. 

 
24. We will be consistent in applying our enforcement policy. 
 

 Consistency does not mean that we will use the same enforcement option 
every time a particular legal requirement is not met. It does mean that we will 

Page 25



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 8

use the same criteria and approach when deciding how to respond to non-
compliance. 

 
 These criteria include taking into account: 

 The impact on and outcomes for people, carers and families, and 
communities. 

 A provider’s track record of compliance and responding to requirements. 
 The level of confidence we have in the capability of the provider to 

achieve and maintain change and compliance. 
 

 In order for us to have high confidence in a provider’s capability they must 
demonstrate that they: 
 Are willing to cooperate with us. 
 Understand the concern we have expressed and what they should do to 

resolve it. 
 Are a previously compliant provider (we cannot have high confidence in 

providers that are repeatedly non-compliant in the same areas or continue 
to drift between compliance and non-compliance). 

 Are aware of their shortfalls, include them in their Provider Compliance 
Assessments (a self-assessment tool for providers to use in monitoring 
their compliance with the essential standards), and have appropriate plans 
in place to manage them. 

 Have the resources needed to make improvements to meet essential 
standards of quality and safety. 

 
 We will always try to avoid duplicating the work of other bodies with 

contractual relationships, service level agreements, performance management 
responsibilities or regulatory relationships with or for providers. 
 We will seek agreement on processes for identifying the most effective 

levers for achieving compliance, wherever they are held. 
 We will, however, use our powers whenever this is needed or appropriate. 

 
 We will collect information about and monitor our enforcement activity to 

check that we are being fair and consistent, both nationally and across all 
kinds of provider. 

 
25. We will be open and transparent about our approach to enforcement. 
 

 We will consult on any changes to this policy (as required by law) and produce 
guidance and information about it in plain English and in a variety of formats, 
so that it is accessible to all people who use services, their families and carers, 
providers, and the public. 

 
 We will publish information about our enforcement activity, both in national 

reports and also in reports about providers. 
 
26. We will target our resources where they are most needed. 
 

 We will gather and review data and trends about our enforcement work, so 
that we can understand: 
 The scale of non-compliance with the essential standards and legal 

requirements. 
 How we are responding to it. 

Page 26



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 9

 How successful different options are in addressing different problems. 
 The outcomes of our enforcement work for people, families and 

communities. 
 Our activity and performance at a national, regional, area and individual 

levels. 
 

 We will use this information to help us manage our resources in the most 
effective and efficient ways. 

 
 We will report on our enforcement activity in our review of compliance reports 

on individual providers, on our website, and in our annual state of social and 
health care and other national reports. 

 
 We will work with partner agencies and regulators to achieve agreement on 

ways of working that avoid duplication, in particular where: 
 The provider is an NHS body subject to regulatory, performance or 

contractual oversight. 
 The provider is a contractor to local social care and health commissioners. 
 The provider is regulated by another statutory body. 

 
 We will take into account the equality and diversity dimension to enforcement. 

To help us, we will develop ways of gathering information about: 
 The enforcement options we choose in circumstances with a relevant 

diversity dimension, and how the diversity dimension is recognised. 
 Outcomes for people, carers, families and communities flowing from non-

compliance with essential standards relating to inequality, direct or indirect 
discrimination, barriers associated with the diverse nature of our society, 
and breaches of people’s human rights. 

 Whether this policy is being consistently applied regardless of the age, any 
disability, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, race and ethnicity, 
religion or belief of providers and people who use their services. 

 
 We will always take into account and gather information about the impact of 

our enforcement work on people who use a service, their families, community, 
and the local care economy. 
 

 We will balance the consequences of taking enforcement action against the 
risks of taking no action. 

 
27. We will always: 
 

 Ensure that our work is led and undertaken by appropriately trained, skilled 
staff. 

 Be consistent in applying our approach to enforcement to the NHS, adult 
social care, independent health care, private, voluntary and local authority 
providers. 

 Follow up enforcement activity in a timely fashion. 
 Monitor the operation of the enforcement policy, and take seriously any 

comments from providers and people who use services. 
 Act in the best interests of people who use services and their families and 

carers. 
 

Page 27



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 10

3. Investigations 
 
 
28. Section 48 of the Act gives us powers to carry out investigations into the provision 

of English NHS health care and adult social care, including related functions of 
local authorities. We must also carry out an investigation when asked to do so by 
the Secretary of State for Health. 

 
29. We will use our investigation powers where we become aware of evidence of a 

significant problem affecting a whole local care system rather than a single 
provider. The principles that apply to our approach to enforcement also apply to 
how we manage investigations. 

 
30. Investigations allow us to look into actual or potential serious systemic failings, for 

example where lack of coordination between sectors and / or services leads to 
unnecessary serious harm. We will publish the findings of any investigation we 
undertake, and ensure that improvements are made as a result. These 
improvements can be in the service under investigation or across a local care 
system. 

 
31. We use investigations to understand the root causes of problems in a system. 

There can be overlaps between our investigation and enforcement powers. 
Investigations can uncover evidence that leads us to take enforcement action 
against individual registered persons. 

 
32. Enforcement action following an investigation may include recommending special 

measures in relation to an English local authority and serving notices on relevant 
persons requiring action to deal with failures. 

 
33. We have developed criteria to help us plan investigations. These are set out in 

appendix A. We are required by law to publish a report following an investigation 
and, as well as using our own powers, we can offer advice to the Secretary of 
State for Health on any of the issues raised – for example, advice on policy issues 
or changes that we think are necessary to prevent similar problems arising 
elsewhere. 

 

Page 28



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 11

4. Our enforcement powers and how we will use 
them 

 
 
34. Our enforcement powers under the Health and Social Care Act 2008 are explained 

in detail below. Additional detailed operational guidance has been prepared for 
individual processes and types of action. 

 
35. Registered providers and managers both have a duty to make sure that the 

regulated activities they are responsible for are carried on and managed in a way 
that complies with the law. They should discuss any concerns about this that they 
cannot together resolve with the Commission, individually if necessary. Failure to 
do so will be taken into account when we take decisions about who we are going 
to take enforcement action against. 

 
36. Where we have started taking action against a registered person and subsequently 

find failure to comply with a different regulation, we can begin additional, 
separate enforcement action against them for the new breach. 

 
37. Where a provider makes ‘low level’ but continuous or frequent breaches of 

regulations, we will not hesitate to escalate our enforcement action so that 
problems are dealt with swiftly and firmly. We will always follow up enforcement 
action to ensure that improvements are made. 

 
Advice and guidance about improvement 
 
38. Where appropriate we will respond to minor concerns about a provider’s 

compliance or risks to continuous compliance that do not impact on people’s 
safety and welfare through discussion and guidance. 

 
Improvement actions 
 
39. Setting improvement actions is not civil or criminal enforcement activity, but is 

nonetheless an important and significant step. 
 
40. Where a provider is complying with a regulation but we are concerned that they 

will not be able to maintain this compliance continuously, we will use our power 
under Regulation 10 (3) of the regulated activities regulations to require that they 
send us a report showing how they will maintain compliance and the action they 
will take to do so. Sending us these reports is required by the law and failure to do 
so can in itself lead to enforcement action. 

 
41. When requiring a report under the improvement action process, we will show the 

relevant regulation, why we are concerned that compliance will not be maintained, 
and the outcomes that people should be experiencing. We will give a timescale for 
the return of a report. 

 
42. Improvement actions are included in the review of compliance reports we publish 

on each location where regulated activity is carried on. They may also be set by 
letter or email where we have a very minor concern.  

 

Page 29



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 12

Compliance actions 
 
43. Like improvement actions, setting compliance actions is not civil or criminal 

enforcement activity, but is also an important and significant step to take. 
 
44. Where a provider is not complying with a regulation but people are not at 

immediate risk of unnecessary serious harm we will use our power under 
Regulation 10 (3) of the regulated activities regulations to require that they send 
us a report showing how they will achieve compliance and the action they will take 
to do so. Failure to send us a report can in itself lead to enforcement action. 

 
45. We will say which regulation is not being met when setting improvement actions, 

and will give a timescale for the return of a report from the provider showing the 
action they will take to achieve compliance with the relevant regulation and 
essential standards outcome(s). 

 
46. Compliance actions are also included in the review of compliance reports we 

publish on each location where regulated activity is carried on. 
 
 
External processes 
 
Working through partner agencies and their regulatory, performance 
management and commissioning processes 
 
47. A number of partner agencies have powers, duties and/or responsibilities we can 

ask them to use to encourage providers to improve and/or achieve compliance. 
 

 Authorities and bodies with a regional or national performance management 
role relating to activities funded by the NHS. 

 
 Authorities and bodies with responsibilities for commissioning adult social care 

and NHS funded care. 
 
 Professional regulators and other statutory bodies such as Monitor, the 

General Social Care Council, the Independent Safeguarding Authority, the 
General Medical Council, the Nursing and Midwifery Council and local 
authority environmental health departments. 

 
48. A number of regulators have powers and processes they can use to achieve 

compliance with requirements that are similar to our own. Before we use our 
criminal law and civil enforcement powers we will consider whether another body 
or bodies may be better placed to intervene in a way that achieves compliance 
with the law. If so we will arrange a meeting of relevant agencies that can lead to 
a collaborative review and/or action by the most appropriate agency or agencies. 

 
49. Where people have been harmed or placed at risk of harm we will consider 

whether it is appropriate to refer a person to relevant outside agencies, such as to 
the Independent Safeguarding Authority. 

 
 

Page 30



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 13

Criminal law 
 
Warning notices, penalty notices, simple cautions and prosecution 
 
50. Criminal law procedures can be used in response to breaches of certain regulations 

and sections of the Act (see appendix C). They can be taken against any 
registered person, or, in the case of a service that is operating without 
registration, the person who appears to be carrying it on (warning notices cannot 
be used against unregistered providers). 

 
51. We can use criminal law procedures: 

 Where a registered person has not taken compliance action we have set, and 
continues to fail to comply with the law. 

 When a registered person is not complying with the requirements of 
registration under their current conditions (see ‘choosing enforcement 
options’ below). 

 Where it is appropriate to serve a ‘warning notice’ (see below). 
 When a registered person has been dishonest or obstructive. 
 When people have or may suffer unnecessary harm because a registered 

person has failed to comply with a relevant regulation or requirement of the 
Act. 

 To formally warn, fine, caution and/or prosecute registered persons about 
failures to comply with certain regulations and requirements of the Act. 

 When it is appropriate to prosecute registered persons for a failure to comply 
with requirements. 

 When we are satisfied that an offence has taken place. 
 
Warning notices 
 
52. We serve warning notices where we believe compliance can be achieved without 

posing a risk to people who use services while the provider takes action to comply. 
This includes where: 
 There is clear evidence of failure to comply with the Act or a relevant 

regulation, and 
 We have judged that the provider is capable of achieving compliance. 

 
53. Warning notices tell a provider formally that they are not complying with a 

requirement in the Act or a regulation. We can serve notices about individual 
breaches of the law or about continuing non-compliance. Where a notice is about 
continuing non-compliance it will include a timescale by when compliance must be 
achieved. If a provider is still not complying with the requirement when the 
timescale expires we can begin prosecution proceedings. 

 
54. We can also serve warning notices about failures to comply with legal 

requirements under other Acts of Parliament that we consider are relevant, for 
example the Mental Capacity Act 2005. But we can only prosecute a registered 
person for continuing failure to comply with a Health and Social Care Act 2008 
requirement. 

 
55. Warning notices say which legal requirement is not being met, how it is not being 

met, and what must be done to achieve compliance. Where appropriate they will 
include a timescale. 

Page 31



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 14

56. When setting timescales in a warning notice we will take into account a provider’s 
track record in complying with the law and responding to our concerns. Timescales 
will generally be the shortest period within which a provider can be reasonably 
expected to achieve compliance. 

 
57. There are important rules relating to the evidence that warning notices are based 

on. We will take these rules carefully into account when deciding whether a 
warning notice is appropriate. If we serve a warning notice that is then complied 
with we cannot use the evidence supporting it in any subsequent legal 
proceedings. Because of this we might not serve a warning notice if that will stop 
us using the evidence in any future enforcement proceedings that may be needed 
to prevent or respond to further unnecessary harm. Where this is likely to be the 
case we can consider setting compliance actions as an alternative way of drawing 
the registered person’s attention to failure to comply with the law. 

 
Penalty notices 
 
58. We can serve a penalty notice when: 

 A registered person has failed to comply with certain requirements of the Act 
or regulations. 

 Our evidence meets the standard for a criminal prosecution. 
 The code for crown prosecutors has been followed. 
 
The registered person can take the opportunity to admit the offence, pay the 
fixed penalty, and avoid prosecution. 

 
59. If a registered person decides not to pay the penalty we can consider using our 

other enforcement powers; this would normally be to prosecute the person. 
 
60. We will consider using penalty notices when: 

 Our evidence meets the standard for a criminal prosecution and the code for 
crown prosecutors has been followed, and 

 We have judged that the provider has the capability to achieve compliance, 
and 

 Where relevant, the offence was continuing when the timescale in a warning 
notice has expired, and 

 We prefer to focus on improvement without beginning lengthy and costly 
alternative enforcement action. 

 
61. The relevant legal requirements and associated fines are set out in appendix D: 
 
Simple cautions 
 
62. We can offer a ‘simple caution’ instead of prosecuting a registered person or a 

person who has carried on a regulated activity without being registered, where: 
 There is clear evidence of guilt, and 
 Our evidence meets the standard for a criminal prosecution, and 
 The code for crown prosecutors has been followed. 
The offender must admit the offence and be prepared to accept a caution. 

 
63. When deciding whether to caution a registered person we will consider guidance 

issued by the Home Office (currently HO Circular 016/2008). 

Page 32



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 15

64. Although we are not required by law to publish details of simple cautions, we have 
a general power to publish this type of information and will normally do so. 

 
Prosecution 
 
65. We have powers to prosecute for certain offences defined in the Act and the 

regulations made under it. Prosecution is a serious enforcement activity. It holds 
managers or providers to account for not complying with the law. It can 
sometimes be appropriate to prosecute at the same time as taking other 
enforcement action, for example to suspend a registration. 

 
66. We can only prosecute registered persons for certain breaches of the regulated 

activities regulations after a warning notice has first been served but compliance 
with the requirements it made has not been achieved, as set out in paragraphs 52 
- 57 above. This means that we can only prosecute a registered person in relation 
to an offence which was continuing after the timescale in a warning notice had 
expired. 

 
67. We would not begin prosecution proceedings unless we were satisfied that: 

 It was in the public interest 
 There was sufficient admissible and reliable evidence that an offence had been 

committed, and 
 There was a realistic prospect of conviction. 

 
68. In reaching a decision to prosecute, we will take into account the principles in the 

code for crown prosecutors: 
www.cps.gov.uk/victims_witnesses/code.html 

 
69. Where another regulator has the power to prosecute we will coordinate activity 

with them to ensure the right action is taken, to avoid inconsistency, and to 
ensure that any proceedings taken are for the most appropriate offence. 

 
70. Where we successfully prosecute a provider, the courts decide on the fine that is 

imposed and are able to issue a separate fine in relation to each conviction. The 
courts may decide to impose a prison sentence as well as, or instead of, a fine 
following conviction for failure to be registered. 

 
71. The offences and maximum court fines are set out in appendix D: 
 
Civil enforcement 
 
Limiting providers through imposing, removing and varying conditions of 
registration, suspending registration, cancelling registration, and suspending or 
cancelling registration using the urgent procedures 
 
72. Civil enforcement procedures follow processes laid down in the Health and Social 

Care Act 2008. They are used to impose temporary or permanent changes on a 
person’s registered status. 

 
73. We impose these changes: 

 When providers have failed to respond to improvement and compliance 
actions, relevant criminal procedures or intervention by our partner agencies, 
or when people are at risk of unnecessary serious harm 

Page 33



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 16

 To limit how an activity is provided, or 
 To stop a provider from carrying on an activity, temporarily or permanently. 

 
74. We use civil enforcement procedures: 

 When people have or may suffer unnecessary harm because a registered 
person has failed to comply with the essential standards. 

 Where a registered person is not capable of carrying on the regulated activity, 
either at all or under current registration conditions. 

 Where a registered person is capable of carrying on the regulated activity 
under current registration conditions but has a track record of not doing so. 

 
75. We can use civil enforcement procedures where a provider has failed to achieve 

compliance after a warning notice has been served, with or without action under 
the criminal procedures. 

 
Impose, vary or remove conditions of registration 
 
76. Providers and managers who register with us always have certain routine 

conditions attached to their registration. These conditions are about things like 
the locations where regulated activity can be carried on or managed. For activities 
that include providing accommodation there will usually be limits on the number 
or age of the people who use the service. These registration conditions are usually 
agreed with providers and managers when they apply for registration. 

 
77. Imposing, varying and removing conditions of registration is a flexible 

enforcement process that we can use in a variety of different ways to keep people 
safe and ensure that the requirements of the law are met. For example, we can use 
conditions in a proportionate and targeted way to ensure that the Essential 
standards are met without disrupting an entire service, for example by stopping an 
activity being carried on at an unsafe location while it continues at the provider’s 
other locations. This can be temporary or permanent. We might also use 
conditions to stop new admissions to a service where we have issued a notice to 
cancel registration but an appeal is pending. 

 
78. We begin formal proceedings in relation to conditions of registration by sending a 

notice proposing the change we think is needed together with our reasons and 
evidence. Registered persons have a right to make representations to us against 
our proposal before we make a final decision. If we decide to ‘adopt’ our proposal 
we send a notice to the registered person to tell them. Registered persons have a 
right of appeal to an independent tribunal against our notices of decision. We 
have written separate detailed guidance about the representations and appeals 
processes. 

 
79. We also have powers to impose, vary or remove conditions using urgent 

procedures. These procedures do not require a notice of proposal and take 
immediate effect. We will only use the urgent procedures where people will or may 
be exposed to unnecessary and serious harm to their safety and welfare if we do 
not act immediately (see also paragraphs 87 and 88 below). 

 

Page 34



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 17

Suspension of registration 
 
80. We can suspend the registration of a provider or manager entirely for a specified 

period of time, and extend a period of suspension. Suspension of registration is a 
serious step that can have major consequences for a provider. Suspension affects 
all of the locations where the relevant regulated activity is carried on or managed 
by the registered person. We will therefore give particular attention to the likely 
outcomes of taking this action. Suspension can, however, give a provider the 
chance to work towards achieving compliance and then resume carrying on or 
managing an activity. We follow the same notice of proposal and decision 
procedure described above for suspension of registration. 

 
81. We can also suspend or extend a period of suspension using urgent procedures 

(see also paragraphs 87 and 88 below). 
 
82. We will use our powers to suspend a registration when there is good evidence that 

that a provider or manager who is not able to meet relevant regulations will be 
willing and able to do so at a defined point in the future. 

 
Cancellation of registration 
 
83. Our most powerful sanction is to cancel a registration outright. As with 

suspension, this would affect all the locations where the registered person carried 
on or managed the relevant regulated activity. Cancellation normally follows 
considerable efforts to achieve or encourage compliance with the essential 
standards, but where necessary we can use the cancellation process without first 
having followed other processes. 

 
84. Where people are at immediate risk of unnecessary serious harm to their life or 

well-being we can use urgent procedures to apply to a court for an Order to 
cancel a registration with immediate effect (see below). As in the other urgent 
procedures, there is no right to make representations, but there is a right of 
appeal with fast track procedures (see paragraphs 87 and 88 below). It would be 
an offence for a provider or manager to carry on or manage the activity after their 
registration had been cancelled. 

 
Urgent procedures to cancel a registration 
 
85. We would only consider using the urgent procedures to cancel a registration as a 

last resort and where the problem cannot be resolved in any other way. This is 
where people who use a service are put at unacceptable risk of serious 
unnecessary harm because care is so unsafe or of such poor quality that it would 
not be appropriate to allow time for representations and appeals to be considered. 

 
86. When using our powers to apply to a justice of the peace for the cancellation of a 

registration using the urgent procedures we will wherever possible: 
 Tell the registered person in advance about our application to cancel their 

registration using the urgent procedures. 
 Only make an application without telling and involving the registered person 

in exceptional circumstances, such as when their whereabouts are not known. 
Where we cannot give the registered person notice of our application to a justice 
of the peace we will make a full and frank disclosure of all relevant evidence and 
confirm that we have done so in our application. 

Page 35



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 18

Urgent procedures – general 
 
87. Action under the urgent procedures takes immediate effect. Registered persons 

have the right of subsequent appeal to an independent tribunal. A memorandum 
of understanding recently agreed between CQC and the Tribunal service sets out 
how such appeals will be managed. CQC will comply with the memorandum. 

 
88. When serving an Order or Notice on a registered person using the urgent 

procedures, it will always include information about: 
 Our memorandum of understanding with the tribunal about a ‘fast track’ 

option for appeals when we have used the urgent procedures. 
 How the registered person can appeal against the urgent cancellation order or 

notice. 
 
Representations and appeals 
 
Representations 
 
89. Registered persons have the right to make representations to us about certain 

types of enforcement action. We have produced separate detailed guidance about 
this. Representations must be submitted within 28 days of the service of: 
 Relevant warning notices. 
 A notice of proposal to impose, vary or remove conditions of registration. 
 A notice of proposal to suspend a registration, or to extend the period of a 

suspension of registration. 
 A notice of proposal to cancel a registration. 

 
90. Providers or bodies that are investigated under our Section 48 powers can also 

make representations to us about our subsequent report before it is published. 
 
91. There is no right to make representations against Orders or Notices served under 

the urgent procedures, compliance and improvement actions, and criminal 
procedures. Registered persons can write to us with any concerns about these 
actions, and have access to our complaints procedure. 

 
Appeals 
 
92. Registered persons have the right to appeal to an independent tribunal against 

enforcement action using the civil enforcement procedures. We have produced 
separate detailed guidance about this. Appeals must be lodged within 28 days of 
the service of: 
 A notice of decision. 
 A notice of imposed, varied or removed conditions using the urgent 

procedures. 
 A court order to cancel a registration using the urgent procedures. 

 
93. There is a fast track option for appeals against Orders and Notices served under 

the urgent procedures (see paragraphs 87 and 88). 
 
94. There is no right of appeal to the Tribunal in relation to warning notices, penalty 

notices or conviction for offences. 
 
 

Page 36



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 19

Co-ordination with partner agencies 
 
95. Action to cancel or suspend a registration, or to impose, vary or cancel conditions 

of registration using either normal or urgent procedures, will where necessary 
always be carefully coordinated with other relevant bodies, for example 
commissioning local authorities and health trusts or the independent regulator of 
NHS foundation trusts. We will always carefully consider the balance of risk 
between different options. 

 
Enforcement pathway criteria 
 
96. We will follow the criteria set out below when deciding whether to follow criminal 

or civil enforcement processes, or both. 
 
97. We will follow only criminal enforcement procedures where an offence has been 

committed, and: 
 

 A provider is carrying on regulated activity without being registered, or 
 A registered person is capable of complying with the Essential standards of 

quality and safety but did not, and 
 We believe the registered person will comply in the future 
 We do not want to limit the registered person with conditions of 

registration or to stop them from carrying on or managing regulated 
activity 

 We decide that it is appropriate to hold the registered person to account. 
 
98. We will follow only civil enforcement procedures where: 
 

 People have experienced or are at risk of significant unnecessary harm, and 
 The registered person is not capable of complying with the Essential 

standards. 
 

Imposition, variation and removal of conditions 
 
 We will follow procedures to impose, vary and/or remove conditions of 

registration where: 
 A registered person would be capable of meeting the Essential standards 

and relevant legal requirements if their activity was limited by appropriate 
conditions, and 

 We are reasonably confident that they will make any necessary 
improvements. 

 
Suspension of registration 
 
 We will follow procedures to suspend a registration where: 

 A registered person is not currently capable of meeting the Essential 
standards and relevant legal requirements, but 

 We are reasonably confident that they will be capable of making the 
necessary improvements by a specific date in the future. 

 

Page 37



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 20

Cancellation of registration 
 
 We will follow procedures to cancel a registration where a registered person is 

not capable of meeting the Essential standards and relevant legal 
requirements, even if limited by appropriate conditions on their registration. 

 
99. Urgent procedures 
 

 We will use the urgent procedures to cancel a registration or impose, vary or 
remove conditions of registration where the relevant civil enforcement criteria 
are met and: 
 People are experiencing or are at risk of imminent serious unnecessary 

harm, and 
 There is no other way of ensuring their safety and welfare. 

 
 We will use the urgent procedures to suspend a registration or extend a period 

of suspension of registration where the relevant civil enforcement criteria are 
met and: 
 People are experiencing or are at risk of imminent serious unnecessary 

harm, and 
 There is no other way of ensuring their safety and welfare, and 
 We are confident that they will be capable of making the necessary 

improvements by a specific date in the future. 
 
100. Criminal and Civil enforcement procedures together 
 

 We will use criminal and civil enforcement procedures where: 
 A registered person is capable of meeting the Essential standards and 

relevant legal requirements but did not do so, and 
 The registered person has failed to achieve continuing compliance after 

previous regulatory action we have taken, and/or 
 People experienced or are experiencing or are at risk of serious 

unnecessary harm as a result of their not meeting the Essential standards 
and the requirements of the law, and 

 We decide that the registered person should be held to account as well as 
prevented from or limited in carrying on or managing a regulated activity. 

 
101. We will always use criminal procedures where a registered person is dishonest, 

obstructive and/or intimidating to people using services, their supporters, other 
witnesses and/or CQC staff. 

 

Page 38



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 21

5. Publication and notification of enforcement 
action 

 
 
102. Regulations require and authorise us to publish certain information relating to 

enforcement action within three months from the end of proceedings, including 
about any representations and appeals. 

 
103. Information about improvement actions, compliance actions and formal 

enforcement action in relation to individual locations is included in review of 
compliance reports. Our website will also publish summary information about 
improvement actions, compliance actions, and formal enforcement action taken 
against each provider. 

 
104. The Act requires us to send copies of notices relating to enforcement action to 

various bodies, including primary care trusts (PCTs), local authorities, strategic 
health authorities (SHAs) and the independent regulator for NHS foundation 
trusts. Regulations specify which bodies should be given copies of notices relating 
to various aspects of enforcement action, and in which cases we do not need to 
provide notification of enforcement action.  

 
105. We aim to publish an annual report on enforcement, in order to promote learning 

and review trends. 

Page 39



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 22

6. Working with other organisations 
 
 
106. Where we and another enforcement body, for example the police or the Health 

and Safety Executive, have the power to take action about the same 
circumstances, we will work together to ensure that we coordinate our respective 
action and do not duplicate action against registered persons. This will avoid 
inconsistencies and ensure that action is taken by the most appropriate body.  

 
107. Where there are allegations of or actual abuse involving people in services we 

regulate, we will inform the appropriate local authority using our adult 
safeguarding and child protection procedures. We will work with all other relevant 
agencies to ensure that people are appropriately protected using relevant local 
safeguarding procedures. 

 
108. We will work with all appropriate organisations when using our enforcement 

powers, depending on the kind of provider. For example, we will work with: 
 The independent regulator of NHS foundation trusts. 
 Relevant national, regional and local NHS bodies in relation to NHS trusts and 

services provided or funded by NHS bodies locally. 
 Local authorities in relation to adult social care services. 
 
This will help us to take into account what alternative services are available for the 
people affected by our action, consider alternative action where that is 
appropriate, and encourage joint working between relevant authorities. 

 
109. Monitor’s role (the independent regulator of NHS foundation trusts) is to ensure 

that NHS foundation trusts operate in an efficient, effective and economic 
manner. We will not duplicate this role. Failure by an NHS foundation trust to 
comply with our requirements may also be a breach of the independent regulator’s 
terms of authorisation, and could lead to intervention by them. 

 
110. Our role in relation to all providers, including NHS foundation trusts, is to ensure 

that they meet the essential standards of quality and safety. We will always liaise 
with the independent regulator of NHS foundation trusts before taking 
enforcement action against an NHS foundation trust. The only exception to this 
would be where we needed to take immediate action using the urgent procedures 
to protect the safety of people who use services. 

 

Page 40



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 23

Appendix A – Criteria for formal investigation 
 
Our role and powers include undertaking investigations into the provision of: 
 NHS provided or funded care. 
 Adult social services. 
 The functions of strategic health authorities and special health authorities in 

England. 
 
We are required to publish a report following any such investigation. 
 
We undertake investigations when we become aware of relevant and specific concerns. 
Investigations involve gathering evidence on, and developing an understanding of, the 
reasons for serious failing in the provision of care across a local system. We can make 
recommendations to prevent the failing happening again. When conducting an 
investigation we will take account of accepted standards or, in their absence, 
descriptions of good practice (for example from professional bodies).  
 
Triggers that might alert us to the potential need for an investigation include: 
 Direct contact from service users, the public, staff or the media. 
 Issues brought to light during our other regulatory activities. 
 Requests from the Secretary of State for Health, or from other regulatory bodies. 
 
We have wide discretion about the circumstances which will lead to an 
investigation. 
 
Generally, this will only be where we have credible information that suggests that 
there may be or may have been a serious failing in: 
 The provision of care, or 
 The exercise of functions. 
 
by any of the above bodies that has or may affect: 
 People’s basic safety. 
 The effectiveness of a service. 
 The responsiveness of a service to people’s needs. 
 
Where a situation does not fulfil one or more of these criteria we can still consider 
whether an investigation should be started, taking into account its particular 
circumstances. 
 
Factors which might trigger us to commence a formal investigation include: 
 A higher number than anticipated of unexplained deaths. 
 Serious injury or permanent unnecessary harm to people, whether physical, 

psychological or emotional. 
 Events which put at risk public confidence in care provided, or in the NHS, 

independent sector or adult social services generally. 
 A pattern of adverse outcomes for people or other evidence of high-risk activity. 
 A pattern of failures on the part of a service or services; or team or teams, or 

concerns about them. 
 Allegations of abuse, neglect or discrimination affecting people who use services, 

particularly those less able to speak for themselves or defend their rights. 
 

Page 41



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 24

When we are deciding whether to investigate, we will consider the extent to which 
local resolution, referral to another body, or other action might offer a more 
effective solution. 
 
Generally, we will not investigate:  
 Individual incidents that have not been pursued through the appropriate complaints 

procedure, unless it raises an immediate concern. 
 Individual complaints about professional misconduct. 
 Changes to how a service is organised (such as mergers). 
 Employment or disciplinary matters. 
 Matters being considered by a legal process. 
 Specific matters already considered by a legal process. 
 
This does not prevent us from investigating relevant circumstances associated with 
or flowing from these situations. A matter that has been dealt with by one of the 
processes above may have uncovered concerns about the safety of people using 
services, or suggest that an organisation is seriously flawed. 
 
We will consider all allegations of serious failings, decide whether rapid or other 
action is required, and liaise with relevant bodies. Where appropriate we will refer 
the matter to another agency, such as the police. 

Page 42



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 25

Appendix B – Equality impact assessment 
 
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) became the new independent regulator of health 
and adult social care services across England on 1 April 2009. It is responsible for 
registering, reviewing and inspecting these services. CQC aims to help services improve 
by ensuring that essential quality and safety standards are met and that bad practice is 
stamped out. 
 
The CQC enforcement policy is a high-level document that sets out the principles 
behind our approach to enforcement and how we plan to use our related powers. The 
policy seeks to ensure that enforcement decisions made by CQC are consistent, fair and 
appropriate to the circumstances. 
 
CQC, like any other public body, has a legal duty to promote equality and eliminate 
discrimination. The equality impact assessment considers the potential impact of the 
draft enforcement policy in relation to disability, ethnicity, gender, gender identity, age, 
sexual orientation, religion or belief, socio-economic disadvantage, carers and human 
rights. 
 
This paper explains how we looked at the impact on equalities of the policy, and 
proposes things we can do to ensure that equality issues are addressed when 
subsequent measures are developed or revised, through regular monitoring and 
evaluation. 
 
Objective of the policy 
 
The objective of the policy is to set out how we intend to use our enforcement powers 
to protect and promote the health, safety and welfare of people who use health and 
social care services, and the principles we will follow in doing so. 
 
The general principles we intend to follow in relation to enforcement are: 
 Our overarching concern is to protect the safety of service users and improve the 

quality of care they receive.  
 We will take a proportionate approach, based on our assessment of the risk of 

unnecessary harm, the quality of care and the evidence of non-compliance with the 
law.  

 Our processes will be transparent and accountable.  
 We will encourage improvement wherever possible, but if a service fails to fulfil its 

legal obligations, we may take enforcement action.  
 We will put particular emphasis on equality, diversity and human rights, particularly 

where services are provided to those who are less able to speak for themselves.  
 Our work will be led by appropriately trained, skilled staff.  
 We will be consistent in the application of these principles across all sectors of care, 

while tailoring our approach to different types of provider.  
 We will follow up all enforcement activity in a timely fashion.  
 We will coordinate our work with other regulators.  
 We will monitor the operation of the enforcement policy, and take seriously any 

comments from providers and people who use services. 
 
Enforcement is a powerful tool that is used to change unacceptable behaviour and to 
redress unnecessary harm caused by illegal acts, including breaches of human rights and 
unlawful discrimination. It is important, therefore, to ensure that the enforcement policy 

Page 43



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 26

is not inherently discriminatory, and that our enforcement in practice will not 
discriminate against particular groups of the community and will promote equality and 
human rights. This is in line with our commitment to a rights-based approach to 
regulation.  
 
Equality impact assessment 
 
Equality and human rights for providers 
 
The policy outlines the approach CQC will take in using its powers when dealing with 
any breaches of the law. Everyone, irrespective of disability, ethnicity and so on, has to 
comply with legislation and statutory notices. Enforcement action will be taken against 
those organisations and service providers that do not adhere to the law. It will not be 
aimed at specific groups directly. 
 
Equality and human rights for people using services 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 covers the basic rights and freedoms we are all entitled to, 
including equality before the law. These core human rights (principles of dignity, 
equality, respect, fairness and autonomy) are fundamental to people using health and 
social care services. Therefore, it is crucial that we adopt a human rights approach to our 
work. The principles we have laid out in our draft revised policy seek to put people who 
use services first and respect people’s rights and choices. 
 
Our policy makes it clear to our staff and stakeholders that we will make sure that our 
actions will promote equality and protect all people’s human rights and choices. 
 
We will ensure that providers meet their statutory obligations and, where necessary, 
take enforcement action to improve the safety and quality of health and social care 
services. By ensuring the processes that underpin our policy promote human rights and 
choices, we will ensure that human rights are also protected. We can take a range of 
enforcement actions in order to improve poor or dangerous care practices when we find 
them. Our powers include urgent cancellation of registration in the most serious cases. 
We work with others to protect the interests of people who are at risk and cannot 
protect themselves. 
 
Evidence of impact on equality and human rights 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that this enforcement policy would have an adverse 
impact in relation to age, disability, race, religion and belief, gender identity or sexual 
orientation or infringe individuals’ human rights. The changes introduced by the 2008 
Act to create CQC did not, in themselves, introduce any new services. Rather they 
support plans for the diversification of services available to the users of health care 
(including privately funded care) and adult social care. 
 
However, the assessment has highlighted one particular area of high importance: more 
factual data is needed in respect of enforcement activity. CQC will undertake annual 
analyses of all enforcement action that will include a particular focus on any evidence of 
bias towards or against particular groups and the need for any changes to the policy. 
This will help CQC to show that it can regulate health and adult social care services 
effectively and tackle any issues of equality. 
 

Page 44



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 27

The sources of evidence 
 
 We conducted a literature review and accessed a number of databases to find 

published evidence.  
 We carried out a web search to identify relevant literature, in particular websites of 

key public sector regulators with enforcement policies in line with their statutory 
roles – for example the Health and Safety Executive, Local Authority Trading 
Standards and the Environment Agency as well as the Healthcare Commission and 
the Commission for Social Care Inspection.  

 We also spoke directly to some regulators to ask about their enforcement policies 
and their experience of conducting equality impact assessments.  

 We had a detailed discussion with the Equality and Human Rights Group of the 
Department of Health, which helped us to find examples of good practice and to 
get advice about this assessment. 

 
Quantitative evidence 
 
Due to limited powers and a wide variation in the remit of the existing regulators, there 
was insufficient data on which to base robust conclusions about the extent to which 
enforcement may have had an adverse impact on any group, or to which it has 
promoted equality or protected human rights. 
 
However, a review of the equality impact assessments of the regulatory enforcement 
policies (such as building control, environmental health, health safety and licensing, 
planning, private housing and trading standards) of a number of local authorities (for 
example, Brent Council) provided good evidence that their policies have no direct 
adverse impact on any particular group of people. 
 
Qualitative evidence 
 
Within a wider policy context, the Department of Health has already carried out an 
equality impact assessment of the Health and Social Care Act 2008. This relates to 
CQC’s full scope of regulatory activity, and some specific concerns were raised: 
 Firstly, about the ability of a new integrated regulator to adequately monitor and 

safeguard services for older people (particularly in social care settings) and those 
with disabilities (particularly learning disabilities).  

 Secondly, the role of protecting the rights of users of mental health services who are 
subject to compulsion could be diminished within an organisation with a wide range 
of functions that will compete for limited resources. This is particularly important in 
light of the new function of monitoring the application of the deprivation of liberty 
safeguards, as provided for in the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

 
 
In relation to the first concern: 
 CQC is able to direct resources and attention where they are most needed. CQC’s 

regulatory regime is building upon the targeted, risk-based and proportionate 
regulation pioneered by its predecessor commissions.  

 This allows CQC to ensure that poorly performing providers receive the level of 
monitoring and intervention necessary to maintain the safety and quality of their 
services.  

 CQC has been given a wider range of sanctions than was available to the bodies it 
replaced. These sanctions include new powers to take into account compliance with 
other relevant enactments, issue penalty notices, and suspend registration. This 

Page 45



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 28

greater range of enforcement powers will allow CQC more effectively to safeguard 
the quality of services and tackle any equality issues that become apparent in the 
provision of those services. 

 
In relation to the second issue: 
 We recognise that the Mental Health Act Commission (MHAC) had a somewhat 

different focus to the other two commissions whose functions transferred to CQC.  
 CQC worked with the Department of Health and MHAC to ensure that MHAC’s 

unique functions and expertise would be properly maintained in the new 
organisation. This has been successful.  

 There are significant benefits in MHAC’s functions being within the remit of CQC. It 
enables closer links between monitoring the operation of mental health legislation 
and the wider regulation of mental health service providers. There is now greater 
flexibility and more effective monitoring of the operation of mental health 
legislation, as CQC is able to draw upon a wide range of analytical skills, information 
and corporate resources.  

 Regulations under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 give CQC a monitoring function in 
relation to the operation of the deprivation of liberty safeguards. CQC checks that 
safeguards are working properly, highlights where they are not and, where 
necessary, makes sure that remedial action is taken. CQC is able to visit hospitals 
and care homes and, where necessary, interview any patients who are deprived of 
their liberty and ask to see relevant records. CQC reports once a year to the 
Secretary of State summarising its activities and findings in relation to these 
safeguards. 

 
CQC has statutory duties in relation to the promotion of race equality. The Race 
Equality Duty, which came into force in 2002, requires public authorities to promote 
equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination. In addition, CQC has specific 
duties to help it ensure that, in the discharge of its functions under the Mental Health 
and Mental Capacity Acts, it is able effectively to monitor and tackle any instances of 
unlawful discrimination and adverse impact on the basis of race, gender identity and 
disability. 
 
CQC is building on the work of its predecessor regulators in relation to the Disability 
Equality Duty, the Race Equality Duty and the Gender Equality Duty (which came into 
force in 2007). CQC is committed to promoting human rights and diversity, not only in 
terms of how we operate as an organisation (including how we deal with our own staff), 
regulate service providers and carry out enforcement, but also in how we improve the 
public’s experiences of health and adult social care services. 
 
Future action points 
 
1. Public consultation 
 
During consultations we considered whether there was any potential for the policy to 
disproportionately affect different groups of people. No such risk was identified, but if 
our monitoring of the outcomes of our enforcement work suggests that such a risk 
exists, we will consider what action we need to take and whether any additional 
monitoring is needed. 
 
When reporting our enforcement findings in reviews of compliance and other reports we 
will write our reports in plain English, and will provide the reports in different formats. 
 

Page 46



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 29

2. Indirect consequences 
 
Based on our literature search and discussions with other regulators, we found no 
evidence to suggest that our enforcement policy would adversely impact or infringe 
human rights. However, while the policy itself is not prone to promote or produce 
inequality, the procedures we use to monitor compliance with the essential standards of 
quality and safety that can lead to enforcement activity will be monitored and reviewed 
for evidence of adverse direct and indirect impact on equality. 
 
Similarly a review of how past enforcement has addressed equality and human rights 
issues raised through investigations will inform future policy development and practice. 
Therefore, CQC: 
 Makes sure that its methodologies respond to and promote diversity by consulting 

with people from diverse groups. CQC involves a wide range of users of services, 
regulated providers, commissioners and other interested parties. This approach helps 
us to ensure that we have appropriate tools built in to our methodologies to tackle 
any areas where there may be equality issues. We are using the experience of the 
Commission for Social Care Inspection and the Healthcare Commission in assessing 
the impact of their methodologies and tools on equality and diversity.  

 Train its staff to understand what they need to do to ensure their ways of working 
fully integrate equality, diversity and human rights. For example, staff should be 
aware of and respect different cultural requirements and be familiar with legislation 
on human rights. When necessary, they can use translation services and encourage 
the use of third parties to translate and mediate with users of services. 

 We will develop an equality and human rights checklist for use in our investigation 
and enforcement work. 

 We will share information with the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) 
to enable both to undertake their regulatory and enforcement roles. For example, 
we will share information with the EHRC if we think that they are better placed than 
us to take enforcement action on equality issues using their powers.  

 
3. Annual enforcement reports 
 
This impact assessment has highlighted that monitoring and analysis is needed to 
identify and address any equality and human right issues in relation to enforcement 
action undertaken by CQC. The equality impact assessment in our first policy 
recommended that enforcement activity be monitored and reported on in annual 
reports. These reports will include: 
 The differences in feedback and complaints between minority groups, age groups, 

genders, and between people who are and who are not disabled, and the general 
population.  

 Data on the diversity of who owns and runs different types of health and social care 
businesses (for example nursing homes and private clinics) that are regulated by 
CQC. These reports will provide baseline data against which meaningful comparisons 
can be made. There are challenges in collecting such data. CQC needs to ensure that 
its methodologies do not inadvertently discriminate against registered managers and 
providers on the basis of race, gender identity, sexual orientation and so on.  

 A breakdown of population profiles to highlight high black and minority ethnic and 
aged population areas could also help CQC. 

 
To achieve the above, CQC needs to ensure that its staff contribute to the reports. The 
information, which should include analysis by ethnic group, gender identity and other 
equality strands and human rights, should be evaluated to establish whether 

Page 47



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 30

discriminatory practices or adverse impact have occurred and to identify areas where 
equality and human rights can be better promoted. 
 
4. Regular surveys 
 
In carrying out its functions, CQC will need to show effective involvement of users of 
services and others affected by its activities. Based on the experience of other 
regulators, it would be valuable to seek regularly the views of users, carers and public 
about the services and businesses that CQC regulates, on issues such as: 
 The speed with which reported breaches of the law are resolved (recognising that 

enforcement needs to follow due legal process). 
 Whether our enforcement action is sufficient to address specific problems and bring 

about improvements, including where enforcement action is designed to impact on 
breaches of people’s human rights, discrimination or unequal outcomes for people 
with protected equality characteristics. 

 The representative views should cover age, gender, disability, race, religion and 
belief, gender identity and sexual orientation. 

 
5. Collaboration with other regulators 
 
CQC will take account of best practice among other regulators who are performing 
similar enforcement functions. An opportunity to do this is provided through the 
voluntary Concordat already signed by a number of regulators, to share their data for 
regulatory purposes. The analysis of the shared data of enforcement action might 
provide some insight of institutional inequalities and help to develop new enforcement 
approaches. 

Page 48



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 31

Appendix C – Offences and fines 
 
Fixed penalties 
 

Offence Fine 

Failure to comply with regulations about quality and safety (See 
regulation 27 of the activities regulations) 

Provider £4,000  
Manager £2,000  

Carrying on a regulated activity without being registered £4,000 

Failure to comply with conditions of registration Provider £4,000  
Manager £2,000  

Carrying on a regulated activity while registration is suspended £4,000 

Managing a regulated activity while registration is cancelled or 
suspended 

£2,000 

Obstructing entry and inspection £300 

Failure to provide documents or information £300 

Failure to provide an explanation of any relevant matter £300 

 
Offences and fines: Prosecution 
 

Offence Fine 

Failure to comply with regulations about quality and safety (See 
regulation 27 of the activities regulations) 

£50,0001 

Carrying on an activity without being registered £50,000 

Failure to comply with conditions of registration £50,000 

Offences relating to suspension or cancellation £50,000 

False descriptions of concerns £5,000 

False statements in applications £2,500 

Obstructing entry and inspection £2,500 

Failure to provide documents or information £2,500 

Failure to provide an explanation of any related matter £2,500 

 
1: Some lesser requirements have a maximum court fine of £2,500 

Page 49



Care Quality Commission Our enforcement policy 32

Appendix D – Glossary of significant 
enforcement terms 
 

Harm ‘Harm’ includes where there has been impairment of the structure of the 
body or how the body functions, together with any negative effects that 
this has had. These effects include disease, injury, suffering, disability 
and death, and can be physical, social or psychological 

 
Impairment is a long term characteristic of an individual that affects their 
functioning and/or appearance 

 
Disease is abnormal functioning in a body’s structures (for example lungs 
or muscles), systems (for example blood circulation and the nervous 
system) or psychological health. 

 
Injury is damage to any part of the body caused by an agent (for 
example a poison), incident or event. 

 
Suffering is the experience of anything subjectively unpleasant. 
Suffering includes pain, feeling unwell, nausea, depression, agitation, 
alarm, fear and grief. 

 
Disability is the disadvantages experienced by an individual as a result of 
barriers (attitudinal, physical etc) that impact on people with 
impairments/ill health. 

 
For regulatory purposes harm also includes abuse as defined in ‘No 
Secrets’ (Department of Health) and ‘Working Together’ (Department 
for Children Families and Schools) and its effects and outcomes, for 
example discriminatory abuse and financial or material abuse. 

 
Some kinds of harm are useful, for example where a person has surgery 
that they need. Inappropriate harm is usually therefore described as 
‘unnecessary harm’ in this policy. 

 
Order An order means an Order of the Court. An order is a written record of 

the court’s decision about an application it has considered. 
 
Notice A notice is a formal notice in writing given by the commission to a 

registered person under one of the sections of the Health and Social 
Care Act. For example, a proposal or decision in relation to registration, a 
warning notice, or a fixed penalty. 

 
Serving or These terms refer to the way that documents are formally sent 
service of or given to a person. Serving is the way we will carry out that 
an Order process, while service normally refers to the completed act. We 
or Notice  can serve documents by post, in person or sometimes, by e-mail. Where 

the Act requires us to give a notice to a registered person we must make 
sure this is done as described in sections 93 and 94. 

Page 50



How to contact us  
 

Phone: 03000 616161 
Email: enquiries@cqc.org.uk  
Registered Office:  
Care Quality Commission 
Finsbury Tower  
103–105 Bunhill Row  
London EC1Y 8TG  
 
Please contact us if you would like a  
summary of this document in other formats  
or languages.

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION FOR INFORMATION
	cqc_enforcement_policy_oct_2010


